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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

ITALO ANTHONY MICELI,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:17cv-00029(VAB)

JOHNMEHR etal.,,
Defendant.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Italo Anthony Miceli (“Plaintiff”) has suethe Town of Rocky Hil(*Rocky Hill”),
Town Manager John Mehigrmer Town ManagefGuy Scaife, the Chief of Poliad# the Rocky
Hill Police DepartmentiMichael D. Custerand Lieutenant Robert Catania, also ef Rocky
Hill Police Departmentin their individualand officialcapacitiesand Robert Lombarda
resident of Rocky Hill. Compl., ECF No. 1 (Jan. 6, 2017).

Mr. Miceli alleges that Rocky Hithnd the named publafficials (collectively “Town
Defendants”)1) violatedthe Americansvith Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 121@&t seq
(“ADA”); (2) retaliated against him in violation of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12203; (3)ietéal
against him in violation of the First Amendment; (4) violated Connecticut Fair Employment
Practices Act, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-60(a) (“CFEPA”); and (5) intentionalbtadflemotional
distress.ld. 1 3#57. The ADA and CFEPA claims, Counts One and Four, are brought against
the Town onlyMem. in Opp. to Town Defs. Mot. (“Pl.’s Opp. to Town Defs.”), ECF No. 139 at
8 (May 22, 2019)As to Mr. Lombardoa private citizenMr. Miceli claims (5) intentional
infliction of emotional distress, as well as (6) defamation and (7) tortious intedef@ompl g
53-66.

Mr. Lombardochasmovedfor summaryudgmentasto all claimsagainstim, ashave the
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Town Defendantsexcluding RoberCataniawho wasdismissedrom the case Mot. for
SummaryJudgment{“‘LombardoMot.”), ECFNo. 134 (Apr. 16, 2019)Mot. for Summary
Judgment“Town Defs.Mot.”), ECFNo. 135(Apr. 19, 2019)seealsoStipulationof Dismissal,
ECFNo. 133(Apr. 15, 2019).

For the following reasons, the Town Defendantstion for summary judgment is
GRANTED with respect to the ADA discrimination claim, the ADA retaliation claim, and the
First Amendment retaliation claim

The Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the remainmlgatat
claims against the Town Defendants, and similarly declines to exercidersepfal jurisdiction

over the claims against Mr. Lombardo.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Factual Allegations

Mr. Miceli’'s claimsariseout of hisemploymentsa pdice officer with the Town of
RockyHill, a position héneldfor twelveyears until histerminationon November 29, 2016.
Plaintiff's Local Rule56(a)(2)Statemenbf Factsin Opp. to Town Defs. Mot. (“Pl.’'s SMF —
Town Defs.”), ECFNo. 139-1171-2 (May 22, 2019).

JohnMehris the arrentTown Managerof theTown of RockyHill. Compl. § 6From
October2014 untilAugust30, 2016, @y ScaifeservedasRockyHill's Town Managerlid.  5;
seealsoEx. 1: Affidavit of Italo Miceli (“Miceli Affidavit”), ECFNo. 139-3 T 13May 22,
2019).MichaelD. Custeris the Chief of Policeof RockyHill. Compl § 7. RoberCatanias a

policelieutenantof RockyHill . Id. § 8. Robert Lombardis a neighbor oMr. Miceli, anda

1 Mr. Miceli served in the Air Forcbeforehis employment witiRocky Hill, and he was recalled to active duty in
Afghanistan in 200-2008 while still employed wittthe Town ofRocky Hill. SeePl.’'s SMF—Town Defs. { 2.
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residentof RockyHill . Id. T 9; Plaintiff's Local Rule56(a)(2)Statemenbf Factsin Opp. to
Lombardo Mot (“Pl.’s SMF — Lombardo”) ECFNo. 138-1 { {May 8, 2019).

Mr. Miceli allegesthatin his elevenyearsof employmentbeforeMr. Scaife’stenureas
Town Manager,'he neverreceivedany complaintsof misconduct towards the publidViceli
Affidavit f 15.Theclaimsin thislawsuitareorganized aroungeveralincidentsasdetailed
morespecificallybelow.

The HumveePurchase

In August2011,afterthe Town Council authorize@nauctionfor various surplus
equipmentMr. Miceli purchased military-style Humveeandtractortruck for $100.Pl.’'s SMF
—TownDefs.q111-12.

In March2015,the U.S. Attorney’s Office receiveda complainfrom the Town of Rocky
Hill aboutMr. Miceli’'s purchaseandforwardedit to the FederaBureauof Investigation
(“FBI"). Pl.'s SMF-Town Defs.{ 15.TheFBI theninvestigatedvhethertherewasan
unauthorizedaleof the Humveandtractor.ld. § 16.

Onor aboutMay 12, 2015two FBI agentsinterviewedMr. Miceli regardinghis
purchasef the Humveeld. I 17.SpecialAgent RonOffutt took notes duringhis interview,and
the notesvereusedin hisreport.ld. I 18-19 After learningof theauctionallegedlyby a
newspapeadvertisementMr. Miceli claimsto havedeliveredhis bidto therelevanttown
employeeGlem ParentEx. I: Deposition of RoWw. Offutt (“Offutt Depo.”),ECFNo. 135-11
at17:23-20:13 (Nov. 26, 2018eealsoMiceli Affidavit § 10.Mr. Miceli “stated[to Agent
Offutt] thatafriend of his put uphalf the money angaid $50towardthetotal $100"for the

Humveeandtractor.Offutt Depo.at21:4-19.



Mr. Miceli furtherallegesthatwhenChief Custerspokewith him about théHumvee he
stated'Listen . . . Scaifeis after you. . . .He’s afterboth of us, butight nowhe’sgot his sights
seton you.”Ex. 2: Deposition oftalo Miceli (“Miceli Depo.”),ECFNo. 138-4at157:2-16
(Sept.22, 2017)He allegegthatthis conversatioroccurredn the Chief's office, beforehesenta
letterto the Office of theChief States Attorney.ld. at 157:17-19.

Letterto Chief State’sAttorney

OnJune 19, 2019vir. Miceli sentaletterto the Office of the Chief Statés Attorney,in
which heclaimed,inter alia, thathe purchasdthe Humveefrom RockyHill throughRocky
Hill’s silentauction.Pl.’s SMF — Town Defs. § 25;seealsoEx. J: Miceli's Letterto StateWide
Prosecution (theOCSA Letter”), ECFNo. 135412 (June 19, 2015).

In theletter,Mr. Miceli beganby describing hisgssueswith Mr. Lombardo,andalleges
Mr. Lombarddfiled numerousomplaintswith RockyHill’s PoliceDepartmenandPlanning
andZoning —all of which wereallegedlyunfoundedOCSA Letterat 1. Mr. Miceli alsodetails
otherwrongsallegedlycommittedby RockyHill officials, specificallythethenTown Manager
Scaife who heallegescollaboratedvith Mr. Lombardoto harasshim in lookingfor “any type of
violationswith [his] houseandproperty.”ld.; seealso id.at4 (“I washappil living here[in
RockyHill] until thisnewTown Manager Guy ScaifeandRobert Lombardstartecharassing
andbullying me.”).

Along with manyof theclaimsraisedin this case Mr. Miceli’s letterrelatesthe
following complaintsissueswith RockyHill planningandzoning,statinghe did not have a
certificateof occupancy fopartof his housefinesfor municipalrecreational’ehiclesand
blight; numerous house and property inspectionsthrehtsof fines; the Town forcing him to

breakdown his compdsforcing him to move hismilitary Humvee;Mr. Lombardo’s property



not gettingimmediatelyfined, despitallegedlyintrudingmoreinto Stateproperty;andMr.
Lombardo’sallegedlyunlicensedlumbing busines$SeeOCSA Letter 1-4. Mr. Miceli
emphasizethatthe “qualityof [his] life is sufferinggreatlydueto the harassmeimindbullying
andreceivingfrom . . .Guy Scaife. . .andRobert Lombardo.Id. at 3.

Mr. Miceli allegesthatChief Custer Mr. Scaife,andLt. Cataniawereon noticeabout
this letterbeforeChief Custerassigned.t. Cataniato investigateclaimsof misconductegarding
Mr. Miceli. SeeEx. 6: Deposition of Robe€atania(“CataniaDepo.”),ECFNo. 134-2at 136:6-
138:11 (Nov. 5, 2018) (notindpat henotified Interim Town ManagerScaifeabout theDCSA
Letter,per Chief Custer’sinstructionswhenhebecamewaretheletter existed,but notrecalling
whenthatdatewas).

Incidentswith Lombardo

TherelationshippetweenMr. Miceli andMr. Lombardoallegedlydeterioratednorethan
adecadeagodueto anincidentinvolving their then-minordaughtersPl.’s SMF — Lombardd
2-3; seealsoMiceli Depo.at101:12-102:25.

Mr. Miceli allegesthatfrom October2014 through théling of the ComplaintMr.
Lombardo“allegedlyinitiatedandpursued @omplaintof slanderandfalsecomplaintsand
investigationsagainst’Mr. Miceli, Pl.’'s SMF — Lombardo { 2Qciting Compl. T 20)andthat
theseongoing disputewereusedby the Defendantsto harassandintimidatethe Plaintiff based
upon theDefendants’ perceptiothatthe Plaintiff sufferedfrom mentaldisability.” Id. 21
(citing Compl. { 21)Additionally, Mr. Miceli allegesMr. Lombardocomplainedaboutpart of
his propertywhichled to numerouwisitsin 2014-2015rom zoningofficer Frark Kelly, who
declarechis propertyas“blight.” 1d. 19 5-6. FurthermoreMr. Miceli allegesthat“[w]hen Kelly

investigatechetold methathetold [thertIinterim Town Manager]Scaifethat Lombardo’s



complaintwasnotvalid andthatit wasnotblight, but[thenInterim Town Manager]Scaife
orderedhim to cite mefor a violation.”Miceli Affidavit q 16.

Mr. Miceli alsoallegegsthatLt. Cataniavasrelatedto Mr. Lombardo’swife, Diane,
which Mr. LombardodeniesPl.’s SMF — Lombarddf[16-17;seealsoCataniaDepo.at 143:8-
22 (notingthereis nofamilial relationbetweerhim andthe Lombardos, but explainitigatheis
friendswith PeteMirabelli, whois the husband dDiane’ssisterLisa). Further,Mr. Miceli
allegesthatMr. LombardoandLt. Catania‘conspiredto defameandattempfed] to terminate”
hisemploymentPl.’s SMF - Lombardo { 22.

In thespringof 2015,Mr. Miceli allegeshatMr. Lombardo‘falsely reported’to the
policeandLt. CataniathatMr. Miceli slashechis poolliner. Miceli Affidavit § 17.He claims
thaton numerous occasioffem 2015to now, Mr. Lombardad*hasyelledat personwisiting
[Mr. Miceli] ‘why areyou friendswith aliar andathief.” I1d. § 31.

In May 2015,Mr. Miceli furtherallegeshatMr. LombardoandthenTown Manager
Scaifewrongfully notified the StateDepartmentf Transportatiorbecausédis vehicleandarock
werein thestateés right of way. Pl.'s SMF — Lombarddf 7.Mr. Miceli claimstherock andother
itemsin questiorwereallegedlyplacedyearsearlierin 1996,with Mr. Lombardo’s helpMiceli
Affidavit f 25.Accordingto Mr. Miceli, Mr. Lombardodiscussedhis complaintwith Lt.
Cataniawho allegedlyencouraged hirto comgain to thenTown ManagerScaife.ld. § 26.

Mr. Miceli makesvarious otheallegationsaboutMr. LombardoithatMr. Lombardo
allegedlysaidderogatory things about hita hischildren id. { 8,andthatMr. Lombardo
allegedlyhadclaimedto Chief Custeror thenTown ManagerScaifethatMr. Miceli “had chased
[him] with his serviceweaponandhadthreatenedo kill the Lombarddamily,” id. § 11.Mr.

Miceli allegesthatall of Mr. Lombardo’s complainta/erefabricated SeeDeposition ofitalo



Miceli, ECFNo. 134-2at177:12-179:14Sept.22, 2017) (describing tredlegationthat Mr.
Miceli hadchasedVir. Lombardowith his serviceweaponandadmittingtherewasno
investigationinto thematter) seealsoMiceli Affidavit 1118-19(describinghow Sergeant
Fontainetold Mr. Miceli around February 20%86at“Lombardohadfalselyreported”about the
serviceweaponincident,and“that thedepartmentookedinto [his] weaponslaim andfoundit
to be unfounded . . . absurd.”).

Sometiméan June 2016Mr. Lombardo allegedlyold Mr. Miceli thathe would bdired
by theendof that summeyandthathewas“a mentalcase’ PI's SMF— Lombardo { 4seealso
Miceli Affidavit § 20.

In June of 2016therealsowasaphysicalaltercationbetweerMr. Miceli andMr.
Lombardo’snephew Robert Pl.’'s SMF — Lombarddf[ 13-15;seealsoEx. T: RockyHill Police
Dept.Report of Internalnvestigationof AnthonyMiceli (“Daigle Report— Lombardo”),ECF
No. 135-22at 11 (Oct. 27, 2016)“Officer Miceli clearlyunderstoodandreadilyadmitted that
his decisionto crossthestreetandchallengethe Lombardosvasa poor decision.”).

In August2016,Mr. Miceli allegeshatMr. Lombardd‘falsely reported”to Lt. Catania,
Chief Custer,andtheninterim Town ManagerScaifethatheslashedMr. Lombardo’s pooliner.
SeeMiceli Affidavit  21.Mr. Miceli allegesMr. Lombardatold him hemadehis complaintsin
orderto gethim (Mr. Miceli) fired. Id. § 23.

Mr. Miceli “allegesthatfalsecomplaintsby Defendant.ombardded DefendaniTown
ManagerGuy Scaifeto begina patternof harassmeranddiscriminationagainst him,whichled
to the“repeatedandunwarrantednternalinvestigations’into him, “zoning enforcement
investigationsandinspections,”false accusations,fines,” “[flalse complaintsto variousstate

agenciesabouthim, “[m]aking a devious complaintdndaFBI investigationinto Mr. Miceli’s



allegedpurchaseof theHumvee.PI's SMF — Lombardo  19citing Compl. 1 19)In support of
theseallegationsMr. Miceli natesthatwhenthe previous'own ManagerBarbaraGilbert
investigatedsomeof Mr. Lombardo’searlierclaims,no actionwastaken.ld. at Additional
Material FactsY 6.Mr. Miceli allegeshatonly whenMr. Scaifebecamelown Managerdid Mr.
Lombardo’s comg@intsgaintraction.Miceli Affidavit 7111-14.

Ultimately, Mr. Miceli allegesthatMr. Lombardo’scomplaints‘induced” RockyHill to
terminatehisemploymenin November 2016P1's SMF — Lombardo  2¢citing Compl. { 65).

Rumors abouir. Miceli

In June 2015Mr. Parentallegedly“wentto the Whole Donut Shoandtold a group of
hisfriends. . .thatl hadPTSDandwason the rubbegunsquad.”iceli Affidavit § 38.Mr.
Miceli claimsthatOfficersKeith Baker,Tom CarpenterandBryanKelly informedhim they
hearda rumorthatMr. Miceli hadPTSDandwason the rubbegunsquadld. § 42.At or around
thesametime, Mr. Miceli alsoclaimshe overheadlt. Cataniatelling Officers CherieDairy,
Vanessaillotto, SarahRaymondand RobCieri thathehadPTSD.Id. | 43.

Neartheendof June 20159Mr. Miceli claimsthatOfficer Lefebretold him thathehad
PTSDandthathe would“be gettingaredgunsoon’(meaningred rubber gun).”ld. § 43.

TheRangelncident

Onor about July 29, 201WhenMr. Miceli wasassignedo completerifle training, his
vehiclebecamestuckin mud.Pl.’s SMF — Town Defs. | 4.Officer SaraRaymond, théeadrange
instructorthatday, reportecthatMr. Miceli allegedly*yelled” at herandwas“cleaty upset”
after sheaskedhim whetherhewantedherto call a tow truck Ex. F: RockyHill PoliceDept.
InternallnvestigationSummaryReportCCN 15-03(“Klett Report”),ECFNo. 135-8at 14 (Sept.

24, 2015) (describingninterviewwith Officer Raymond). @ficer Raymonddecidedo cancel



Mr. Miceli’s firearmtrainingfor the daybecauséhe hadexhibitedangerwhich could havded
[to] rangesafetyissues’ Id.

Subsequety, Chief Custerauthorized.ieutenantBrian Klett to initiate aninternal
investigaton into therangeincident CusterAffidavit at | 4. After interviewingOfficer
Raymondandotherofficerspresentt therange Lt. Klett concludedhatMr. Miceli “failedto
exercisgpatiencgor] control histemper,andengagedn argumentativeliscussbnswith
[Officer] Raymondwhich included the use gifrofanity.” Klett Reportat 14-16, 18;seealSOEX.
3: Deposition oLieutenantBrian Klett, ECFNo. 139-3at 122:23-124:4May 22, 2019)"Klett
Depo.”)(“[Mr. Miceli] wasactingin anaggravated, intenseannergengagedn argumentsvith
therangemastersandonthatinformation, theangemastersall concurredhathewasnotin a
stateof readines$o beon therangeto learn.”).

On August 3, 2015, Chigusterassigned.t. Cataniato investigateVir. Miceli with
respectto whetherMr. Miceli “purposely parked privatelyownedvehicleupon theStateof
Connecticuright of way, for the purposef creatingarisk to hisimmediateneighbor,”™did not
pay arequiredfeeandappropriatelyobtain acertificateof occupancyor his private home,and
“wasin purposefuliolation of theTown of RockyHill's ordinance on blightedroperty,and. .
. failed to cooperate oactedinappropriatelywith town staff.” Ex. M: Depositionof MichaelD.
Custer(*CusterDepo.”),ECFNo. 135-15at 114:5-115:Sept.25, 2018)seealsoPl.’s SMF —
Town Defs.{ 8 (disputing theeasorbehind thenvestigation).

On October8, 2015Mr. Miceli wasissuedawritten repimandfor behaviorthatwas
“improper,” “aggressive[,anddisrespectful'in regardgo the incidenwith Officer Raymond.
Ex. O: RockyHill PoliceDept.Reprimand_etter (“ReprimandLetter”), ECFNo. 135-17(Oct.

8, 2015).



On October9, 2015Mr. Miceli wasplacedonindefiniteadministrativdeave.Miceli
Affidavit 1 18.

Around November 2015 hief CusterorderedMr. Miceli to attendafitnessfor duty
exanination“becauseéhe haddisplayed confrontationalndargumentativdoehavior.”Custer
Affidavit f 7.He allegedlywould dosoif anindividual exhibits “behavioin the workplacehat
would becharacterize@sabnormal,”andif thatbehavior‘inhibits the indivicual from doing
theirjob.” Ex. 1: Deposition oMichaelD. Custer ECFNo. 139-7at 92:2-11 (Sept.25, 2018);
seealso id.at 98:18-99:5statingthathe would order &tnessfor dutyexamif he“believe[d]an
officer might be adangerto the community”).

OnJanuaryd, 2016 Mr. Miceli allegedlywasinformedhehadpassedhefitnessfor duty
examinationputwasnotimmediatelyreinstatedMiceli Affidavit 120-21.

OnJanuary20, 2016afterLt. Catania’sinvestigationChief CusterconcludedhatMr.
Miceli’'s “behaviorwasimproperandin violation of DepartmentaRulesof Conduct,
ConnecticuGeneralStatutesPOT regulationsand Town ordinances.Ex. W: CCN-2015-04,
FourDay Suspension (Unpai@ndCounseling (“Suspensidretter”), ECFNo. 135-25at 2
(Jan.20, 2016)Chief CusteralsonotedthatMr. Miceli haddeclinedto move hisvehicleoff of
the State’sright of way, afterreceivingacertified noticefrom the StateDepartmenof
Transportatiorandspecificdirectionfrom Lt. CataniaSeeid. at 1-2. But Mr. Miceli notesthat
whenChief Custerorderedhim to move hisvehicle,he didsoimmediately Miceli Affidavit 1
31-32.Following mediationandMr. Miceli’'s agreemento attendcounselingChief Custer
reducechis suspensiofrom four to two days CusterDepo.at 174:20-175:10.

ConnecticulCommissiomon HumanRightsand Opportunities Complaint
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Onor aboutDecembeR3, 2015, MrMiceli filed a complainwith the Connecticut
Commissionon HumanRightsandOpportunitie“CHRO”) allegingmanyof thesameclaims
heis raisingin this lawsuit Pl.'s SMF —Town Defs.149-51.

OnFebruaryl, 2016, th&own Defendantseceiveda notice oMr. Miceli’'s CHRO
Complaintbasedonemploymentdiscriminationunder theADA . Ex. J: Notice of Charge of
Discrimingion, ECFNo. 135-18(Feb.2, 2016).

Onor aboutMay 13, 2016Mr. Miceli filed asecondcomplaintwith the CHRO,in which
heallegedthe Town Defendantsetaliatedagainsthim basedon hisfirst complaint.Pl.’s SMF —
Town Defs. 52;seealsoMiceli Affidavit § 37(“Defendants[Jretaliatedagainsimefor filing
my DecembeR3, 2015chargeof discrimination by delayingmy returnfrom work from the
bogusfitnessfor duty andthenstartingmoreinvestigationgy Daigle.”)

On November 10, 2016, tteHROreleasedMr. Miceli’'s complaintfrom its jurisdiction,
thus authorizing hinbto commencecivil actionon theclaims Ex. 1: Stateof Conn.CHRO
Releasef JurisdictionECFNo. 1-1 (Nov. 10, 2016).

TheDaigle Reports

OnApril 1, 2016 RockyHill retainedEric P. Daigle anattorneyto conductaninternal
affairsinvestigationasto whether‘Officer Miceli misleadthe State’sAttorneywhenhestated
thathe purchased military style Humvee through a borfade auction.”Ex. S: RockyHill
PoliceDep. Report ofinternalinvestigation of Anthonliceli (“Daigle Report -Humvee”),
ECFNo. 135-21at Ex. C: RetentionLetter(Oct. 11, 2016).

OnJune 30, 201&RockyHill assignedVr. Daigle“to conductaninvestigationnto
Plaintiff's truthfulnesgegardinghe circumstancesf his purchasef themilitary style Humvee

from theTown of RockyHill.” Ex. A: Affidavit of Chief Michael Custer(“CusterAffidavit”),
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ECFNo. 135-3 1 11 Apr. 17, 2019)seealsoDaigle Report— Humveeat 2. On thesamedate,
RockyHill alsohiredMr. Daigleto investigateMr. Lombardo’scomplaintsagainstMr. Miceli,
andto ascertainf Mr. Miceli’s conduct towardMr. LombardoviolatedRockyHill Police
DepartmenPolicy. Ex. T: RockyHill PoliceDept.Report ofinternallnvestigationof Anthony
Miceli (“Daigle Report— Lombardo”),ECFNo. 135-22at 2 (Oct. 27, 2016).

Onor about July 26, 20184r. Daigletook Mr. Miceli’s statementDaigle Report —
Humveeat 12. Mr. Miceli statedhelearnedtheHumveeandtractorwerefor salefrom a
newspapeadvertisemenandthat hewrote aletter containing a bid of $50 fazachvehicle.ld.
at12.Mr. Miceli also“describeda long, tumultuouselationshipbetweerhim andhis neighbor,”
Mr. Lombardo Daigle Report — Lombardat 6.

Basedon hisinvestigationinto the HumvegurchaseMr. Daigle concludedhatthere
wassufficientevidenceo determinethatMr. Miceli was“untruthful in violation of RockyHill
PoliceDepartmentules,regulations, or glicies,” andnoted[tlhe evidencas clearthatthere
wasno a[sic] silentauction.”Daigle Report -Humveeat 37-38.

Basedon hisinvestigationinto Mr. Miceli’s altercatiorwith Mr. Lombardoandhis
nephewMr. Daigle concludedhattherewassufficientevidenceo determineMr. Miceli, “in
engagingvith RobertandMichael Lombardo, did noéxercisecommonsenseor good
judgment.”’Daigle Report — Lombardat 10. Mr. DaiglealsonotedMr. Miceli “clearly
understoodandreadly admitted thathis decison to crossthestreetandchallengehe
Lombardosvasa poor decision.ld. at 11.

AllegedDisparatel reatment

In November 201@&herewasa verbakltercationbetweerlLt. CataniaandSergeant

Joseph PhelpS&eeEx. 14: Deposition of Joseph Phelf$helpsDepo.”),ECFNo. 139-16at
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45-52 (Nov. 9, 2018)describingtheverbalaltercationandstatingtherewasa meetingwith
HumanResource$ollowing it).
Termination

In aletterdatedNovember21, 2016 Chief Custerecommendetb Interim Town
ManagemMehrthatheterminateMr. Miceli’'s employmentEx. K: Recommendation®r
Discipline Following Nov. 14, 20168_oudermillHearingConcerningCCN #2016-08andCCN
#2016-04(“Custer— Mehr Letter”), ECFNo. 135-13 (Nov. 21, 2016 hief Custerallegedly
consideredhetwo investigationgy Mr. Daigleaswell astheinternalinvestigation basedon
theOctober8, 2015ncidentwith Officer Raymondat thefiring range.Seeid. at 2 (“In ordinary
instancesaltercationsuchasthecurrentmatter—in isolation— wouldresultin suspension.
However,it would be irresponsibl® not consideOfc. Miceli’s prior disciplinaryhistory,which
reflectsanunremittingpatternof deflectingresponsibiliy for his conduct.”):'Basedon his
history of progressivdisciplineandaclear,demonstratethability to control his emotionsn
stressfulsituations,”Chief Custerconcludedhat“Ofc. Miceli lacksthetemperamenself
control,anddiscretionto remainemployedasapolice officer.” Seeid. at 3.

In aletterdatedNovember28, 2016 )nterim Town ManagemMehrterminatedOfficer
Miceli from hisemploymentasa policeofficer for RockyHill, effectiveNovember 29, 2016.
Ex. V: Town of RockyHill PoliceDept.InternalinvestigationCCN #2016-08andCCN #2016-
04 (“Mehr TerminationLetter”), ECFNo. 13524 at 2 (Nov. 28, 2016)interim Town Manager
Mehr reiteratedhatMr. Miceli violatedPoliceDepartmenRule of Conduct 1.0flor Violation
of Rules,Rule of Conduct 1.0fbr Unbecoming ConducandRule of Conduct 1.4fbr

Truthfulnesslid. at 1.
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TheInternationalBrotherhood oPoliceOfficers,Local 316 (“Union”), grievedMr.
Miceli’s termination,andthe UnionandRockyHill enteredarbitration.Ex. E: Arbitration Award
for Town of RockyHill andIBPO Local 316,Case#2017-A-0159talo Miceli, Conn.StateBd.
of MediationandArbitration (“Arbitration Award”), ECFNo. 135-7(Sept.25, 2017).

OnMarch 28, 2019pverMr. Miceli’s objection anchttemptto vacatethearbitration
decision, the Superi@ourtof theJudicialDistrict of Hartford confirmedthe Arbitration Award.
Pl.’'s SMF—Town Defs. | 48.

TheTown Defendantdave consistentlgssertedhattheyneverstatedto anyonehatMr.
Miceli hadPTSD,andtheyemphasizehatthey did nofperceiveMr. Miceli to have Post-
TraumaticStresDisorder.SeeCusterAffidavit 118-10;Ex. D: Affidavit of Guy Scaife(“Scaife
Affidavit”), ECFNo. 135-6at {5, 6 @pr. 12, 2019)Ex. X: Affidavit of JohnMehr (“Mehr

Affidavit”), ECFNo. 135-267110, 11 Apr. 12, 2019).

B. Procedural History

OnJanuarys, 2017 Mr. Miceli suedRockyHill, Town ManageMehr, Mr. Scaife,Lt.
CataniaandChief Custer,individually andin their official capacitiesasRockyHill officials;
andMr. Lombardo. Compl.ECFNo. 1 (Jan.6, 2017).

Thepartiesengagedn discoveryandfiled various corresponding motiofa extensions
of time. SeeDocketEntries.

OnApril 15, 2019Mr. Miceli filed astipulationof dismissalasto Lt. Cataniaandhehas
beendismissedrom thecase Stipulationof Dismissal ECFNo. 133(Apr. 15, 2019).

OnApril 16, 2019Mr. Lombardo movedor summaryjudgment.Lombardo Mot.

OnApril 19, 2019, th& own Defendantsnoved forsummaryudgment.Town Defs.
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Mot.; seealsoLocal Rule 56(a)(15tatemenbf Undisputedviaterial Facts(“Town Defs.’s
SUMF"), ECFNo. 135-1(Apr. 19, 2019); Memoranduin Support ofTown Defs. Mots (“Town
Defs.Mem.”), ECFNo. 135-2(Apr. 19, 2019).

OnMay 8, 2019 Mr. Miceli timely opposedvir. Lombardo’smotionfor summary
judgment. Memorandunm Oppositionto Lombardo Mot(“PIl.’s Opp.to Lombardd), ECFNo.
138(May 8, 2019);seealsoPl.’s SMF — Lombardo.

OnMay 22, 2019Mr. Miceli opposed th& own Defendantsmotionfor summary
judgmentMemorandumin Oppositionto Town Defs.Mot. (“Pl.’s Opp.to Town Defs.”), ECF
No. 139(May 22, 2019)seealsoPl.’'s SMF —Town Defs.

OnJune 10, 2019, theown Defendantgimely repliedto Mr. Miceli’s oppositionReply
to Pl.’s Opp.to Town Defs. (“Town Defs.Reply”), ECFNo. 142 (June 10, 2019).

Mr. Lombardo did not submitr@plyto Mr. Miceli’'s oppositioninitially, but didfile a
response o@ctober30, 2019, a dalgeforeoral argumentSeeECFNo. _ (Oct 30, 2019).

OnOctober31, 2019the Courtheld ahearingon the motion$or summaryjudgment.

Minute Entry, ECFNo. 149(Oct. 31, 2019).

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court will grant a motion for summary judgment if the record shows no genuine issue
as to any material fact, and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattereédarr. Civ. P.
56(a). The moving party bears the initial burden of establishing the absencenfiregdispute
of material factCelotex Corp. v. Cartretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The non-moving party may
defeat the motion by producing sufficient specific facts to establish that tleegemiine issue

of materialfact for trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).T{he mere

15



existence osomealleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise
properly supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that thergeeuice
issue ofmaterialfact” 1d. at 247—-48.

“[T]he substantive law will identify which facts are mateti&dl. at 248. “Only disputes
over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law wiltlgrope
preclude thentry of summary judgmentld.; see Graham v. Hendersd8® F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir.
1996) (“[M]ateriality runs to whether the dispute matters, i.e., whether it ountacts that can
affect the outcome under the applicable substantivé)deiting Anderson477 U.S. at 248).

“The inquiry performed is the threshold inquiry of determining whether there is ¢ke ne
for a tria—whether, in other words, there are any genuine factual issues that propdsly ca
resolved only by a finder of fact because they may reasonably be resolved in fittoerof
party” Id. at 250. When a motion for summary judgment is supported by documentary evidence
and sworn affidavits anddémonstrates the absence of a genuine issue of materiattiact,
nonmoving party must do more than vaguely assert the existence of some unspsgpitittidi
material facts ofrely on conclusory allegations or unsubstantiated speculatRobinson v.
Concentra Health Servs., In@81 F.3d 42, 44 (2d Cir. 2015) (citation omitted).

The party oppsing the motion for summary judgmeémiust come forward with specific
evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine dispute of materididfddt.the evidence
is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgmento@ayanted.”
Anderson477 U.S. at 25(citing Dombrowski v. Eastlan®87 U.S. 82, 87 (1967First Nat|
Bank of Ariz. v. Cities Serv. C&91 U.S. 253, 290 (1968)).

A court must view any inferences drawn from the facts in the light most fdedcatine

party opposing the summary judgment motisaeDufort v. City of N.Y,.874 F.3d 338, 343 (2d
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Cir. 2017)“On a motion for summary judgment, the court must ‘resolve all ambiguities and
draw all permissible factual inferences in favor of the party against whomimay judgment is

sought.™). A court will not draw an inference of a genuine dispute of material fact from
conclusory allegations or deniatgeBrown v. Eli Lilly & Co, 654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011),
and will grant summary judgment only “if, under the governing law, there can be but one

reasonable conclusion as to the verdidnterson477 U.S. at 250.

1. DISCUSSION
This lawsuit involves the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA%2 U.S.C. § 12101
et seq the Connecticut Fair EmploymeRtactices Act (“CFEPA’)Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-
60(b)(1),the First Amendmenthe Connecticut Constitutioand various state law clainfs.
Because the federal claims at issue only involve the Town Defendants, the Court wil
address their motion for sunamy judgment first- if Mr. Miceli has no viable claims undgre
U.S. Constitutioror any federal statut¢he Courthen will determine whether it will exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining state claimsagainst the Town Defendants and

Mr. Lombardo, against whom only stdéav claims were brougt

2 Although there was some issue that the ADA and CFEPA claims were bamgaihst the Town Defendants as
individuals, Mr. Miceli has since conceded that his “ADA and CEFPA [sicindavere brought against the
Defendant Town bRocky Hill only.” SeePl.’s Opp. to Town Defs. at 8.

3 While the Town Defendants argue that they are entitled to summary jutigevause of an arbitration
award in a different proceeding, an arbitration award does not have predifsiet in federecourt. See
Alexander v. Gardnebenver Co,.415 U.S. 36, 49 (1974). (“Title VII's purpose and procedures strongly
suggest that an individual does not forfeit his private cause of atherfirst pursues his grievance to final
arbitration under the naiiscrimination clause of a collecthErgaining agreement.”n addition, “a
negative arbitration decision rendered under a CBA dogsractude a Title VII action by a discharged
employee."SeeCollins v. N.Y. City Transit Auth305 F.3d 113, 119 (2d Cir. 2002[)T]o survive a motion
for summary judgment based on insufficient evidence to raise a trialeatact, a plaintiff who has
failed in arbitration must present strong evidence that the decisionnwag as a matter of faete.g. new
evidence not before the triburabr that the impartiality of the proceeding was somehow comprorhised.
Morel v. American Bld. Maint. Cp124 Fed. Appx. 671, 672 (2d Cir. 2005) (internal citations omitted).
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A. The ADA Discrimination Claim

The ADA provides that![n]o covered entity shall discriminate against a qualified
individual on the basis of disability in regard to job application procedures, the hiring,
advancement, or discharge of employees, employee compensation, job training, atetrother
conditions, and privileges of employment.” 42 U.S.C. § 12117 .ADA defines a disability
as “(A) a physical or mental impairment tisabstantially limits one or more major life
activities of such individual; (B) a record of such impairment; or (C) being regarded ag havin
such an impairment.” 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1). Additionally, “[a]n individuakts the requirement
of ‘being regarde@s having such an impairment’ if the individual establishes that he or she has
been subjected to an action prohibited under this chapter because of an actual odperceive
physical or mental impairment whether or not the impairment limits or is perceived to limit a
major life activity.”42 U.S.C. § 12102(83).

“Claims alleging disability discrimination in violation of the ADA are subject to the
burdenshifting analysis originally established by the Supreme Cowfcidonnell Douglas
Corp. v.Green 411 US.792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (197B8)¢Bride v. BIC
Consumer Products Mfg. Co., In683 F.3d 92, 96 (2d Cir. 2009). Under this burdhiiting
framework the “plaintiff must establish a prima facie case [of discrimination]; the employer
must offer through the introduction of admissible evidence a legitimate nandisaory reason

for the discharge; and the plaintiff must then produce evidence and carry the burden of

Thus, the Court will consider the arbitration awdeodthe extent necessary in resolving the issues raised in
this motion, but not as preclusive of Mr. Miceli’s federal claims.

4 Major life activities “include, but are not limited to, caring for onegadfforming manual tasks, seeing, hearing,
eating, ¥eeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, legrnéading, concentrating, thinking,
communicating, and working.” 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(A).
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persuasion that the proffered reason is a pret8igta v. CDC Ixix N.A., Inc445 F.3d 161, 169
(2d Cir. 2006) (citingdeyman v. Queens Vill. Comm. for Mental Health for Jamaica Cmty.
Adolescent Programl98 F.3d 68, 72 (2d Cir.1999)).

To establish grima faciecase of disability discriminationnder the ADA, a plaintiff
must show:

(a) that his employer is subject to the ADA; (b) that he is disabled within the

meaning of the ADA or perceived to be so by his employer; (c) that he was

otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of the job with or without

reasonable accommodation; and (d) that he suffered an adverse employment

action because of his disability.
Brady v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc531 F.3d 127, 134 (2d. Cir. 200@iting Jacques v. DiMarzio,
Inc., 386 F.3d 192, 198 (2d Cir. 2004

The Town Defendants contend that Mr. Midalis to establish arima faciecase of
disability discrimination because h&an point to no evidence that any Defendant perceived him
as mentally ill.”Town Defs. Mem. at 14. Because Mr. Miceli has failed to meet his burden of
proving “that a perceived disability actually motivated the employersiact,” the Town
Defendants argue he has failed to show he was terminated becayszadiveddisability. Id.
at 1516. In addition taMr. Miceli’s “pattern of misconduct,” which warranted the investigations
and progressive discipline, the Town Defendants point to his “ongoing lack of truthfulness
regarding how he obtained the Humvee” and his “fist fight with civilians” aktigmate and
nondiscriminatory reasons for his terminatitth.at 16. In support of their argument, they cite to
thevarious affidavits of the named Townf(@fals (Mehr, Scaife, and Custer) as well\is

Daigle’sinvestigation reportdd. (citing Mehr Affidavit 1] 10, 11; Custer Affidavit 1 8-10;

Scaife Affidavit 11 5,6).
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The Town Defendantsrguethat, even if Mr. Miceli were to establistpama faciecase,
he cannot show that their actions “were actually motivated by a retaliaionys or that
“retaliation is a plausible explanationd. They assert that “a reason cannot be proved to be ‘a
pretextfor discrimination unless it is showioththat the reason was falsandthat
discrimination was the real reasoid” at 17 (citingSt. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hick$509 U.S.

502, 515 (1993) (emphasis in original)). In support of this assertion, the Town Defendauts cite
the various affidavits of the nam&ibcky Hill officials. Id. (citing Mehr Affidavit 7 10, 11;

Custer Affidavit 1 8L0; Scaife Affidavit 11 5,6). They also natat they, as well as the State
Boad of Mediation and Arbitration, which issued an award in their favor, crediteDaiigle’s
investigative findings that Mr. Miceli lied about the manner in which he obtaineduimyétas

a major reason for his terminatichown Defs. Mem. at 17.

Additionally, the Town Defendants emphasize Mr. Miceli’'s own admission that he
engaged in a physical altercation with civiliankis neighbor Mr. Lombardo and Mr.
Lombardo’s nephewd. All of these actions “led to a conclusion that Plaintiff engaged in
conductunbecoming a police officer,” and the Town Defendants argue “[tlhese are &gitim
non-discriminatory reasons for terminating an employék.With no evidence that these
reasons are pretextual, they urge the Court to enter summary judgment on Mis MDA
discrimination claimld.

In responseMr. Miceli argues that he was perceived to have PTSD or issues with
“anger” and “mental instability” due to his military servj@ad that the Town officials “parlayed
[this perception] into a retaliatory fiéiss for duty examination, suspensions and ultimately [his]
termination” Pl.’s Opp. — Town Defs. at ®4r. Miceli emphasizethathe has met his burden to

demonstrate that “his claim of disability caused adverse employment dctcbrag 10.In
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support, Mr. Miceli points to his own affidavit, and the fact that Chief Custer requiretbhi
attend a fitness for duty examination “because he had displayed confrontational and
argumentative behaviorldl. at 11 (quoting Custer Affidavit § 7).

To Mr. Miceli, Chief Custer’s criteria for ordering a fitness for dutgiraxnation, which
looks for “behavior in the workplace that would be characterized as abnormal in texorsnaf
behavior of the individual . . . that potentially inhibits [them] from doing theif job(quoting
Custer Depo. at 92:2-11gre the same as identifying someone with a mental disability
including PTSD or anger issue$d’ In order forMr. Miceli to have been ordered to take a
fitness for duty examination and thereafter undergo psychiatric counseling,idéti Mgues the
Town Defendants had to have perceived him as having a mental disability, or elseley
have no cause to do so besides plain harassideat.1:12. Further, Mr. Miceli emphasizes his
passigeof the fitness for duty examination “demonstrates that it was susject’12.

Mr. Miceli also argues that the Town Defendants “have not @redfa legitimate nen
discriminatory reason for the adverse employment actions againstichian.13. Mr. Miceli
disputes the credibility and veracity of Mr. Daigle’s investigation, which tvadasis for much
of the Town Defendants’ actionsl. at 1314. In furthersupportof his allegations, Mr. Miceli
argues that Mr. Mehr, the then-Finance Director, authorized a draft of the hd féumveeld.
at 14.After more general denials that there@t indisputable evidence of his physical
altercation with civilians, Mr. Miceli urgethe Court to deny the Town Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment.

In reply,the Town Defendants r@ssert they did not perceive Mr. Miceli to have a mental
disability and that they had legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons to termimakéidéli from

employment as a police officer. Town Defs. Reply-at 5
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The Court agrees.

Mr. Miceli has failedo establish @rima faciecase because he fail to provide
admissible evidendhat the Town Defendants perceived him as having PTdDMiceli has
only presentethald assertionsSeePl.’s Opp. — Town Defs. at 12 (stating that he was told by
other officers that the Town officials refed to him as being on the “rubber gun squad,”
allegedly derogatory reference to an officer whose weapoakisrt away)Chief Custetestified
that he ordered the fitness for duty exam because Mr. Miceli “had displayedeartgtive and
confrontational behavior.” Custer Affidavit 7. Mr. Miceli has not produced a siitliess to
testify that Chief Custer aally was concerned about Mr. Miceli having PTSD when he
terminated him, or that Chief Custer even considered the issue of PTSD in rklpttoridiceli
at any time of his employment with the Rocky Hill Police Department.

In the absence ahis evidence,at oral argument, Mr. Miceli’s counsel argued that
because Chief Custer knew about the symptoms of PTSD, and testified about them at his
deposition, a reasonable jury could conclude that Chief Custer perceived Mr.thlicalie
PTSD and based his decision to terminate Mr. Miceli on that knowléddeis stage of the
casehowever Mr. Miceli mustoffer admissible evidence that Chief Custer ordered the fitness
for duty examination because aperception tha¥ir. Miceli had PTSDandnot rely on
inadmissiblespeculabn. See, e.gFeingold v. New YorkK366 F.3d 138, 152 (2d Cir. 2004)f(*
the defendant has stated a neutral reason for the adverse ‘dottmieasummaryudgment. . .
the plaintiff's admissible evidence must show circumstances that wouldfibeestfo permit a
rational finder of fact to infer that the defendant's employment decision wadikedy than not
based in whole or in part on discrimination¢iting Stern v. Trustees of Columbia Univ. in City

of NewYork 131 F.3d 305, 312 (2d Cir. 1997))).
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Chief Custer’s general knowledge of the symptoms of PTSD is not admissitéaei
in this case, absent a causal connection between this knowledge and its specifieagbng
whether to terminate Mr. MicelWithout a causal connection, this testimony is properly — if not
necessarily- excludable because “the court may exclude even evidence that is relevant ‘if its
probative value is substantially outweighed by’ the dangentaf; alia, unfair prejudice, or
confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or wasting tiemg/probative value to this
testimony is far outweighed by its potentially prejudicial effeote v. City of Syracus&70
F.3d 127, 173 (2d Cir. 2012) (quoting Fed. R. Evid. 40Bgissue in this case is not what Chief
Custer knows about PTSD, but whether he improperly considered whether Mr. Miceli®ad PT
in deciding whether to recommend kesminaton. And, as noted above, there is nothing in this
record to suggest that he considered whether Mr. Miceli had PTSD in making Bisreéis a
result, whatever Chief Custer knows about PTSD generally is not relevhrs taseand to the
extent that it isthe proffered testimony would onhe misleading or otherwise cause confasio
as to the ultimate issa@ this caseSeeHolmes v. South Carolin®47 U.S. 319, 326 (2006)
(“[W]ell -establishedulesof evidence permit trial judges to exclude evidence if its probative
value is outweighed by certain other factors sualméair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or
potential tomisleadthejury.”); cf. Contemporary Mission, Inc. v. Famous Music Cosp.7 F.2d
918, 928 (h assessing the admissibility of evidence of damages in a breach of coasegct
recognizing that ithe plaintiff “was unprepared to offer an analysis of factors other than the bare
statistics, those statisticstanding alone, would be misleading and would therefore not provide a
stable foundation for a reasonable estimate of royalties that wouldeamearned if

[defendant] had not breachedcitation and internal quotation marks omitfed)
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Even if Mr. Miceli hadcreated a genuine issue of material fact on whetigeTown
Defendants perceived him as having a disability, he has not demonstrated thmat#wozis for
terminating him were pretextuadnder theMcConnell Douglas Corpurdenshifting
framework, even aftehe plaintiff establishes @rima faciecase of discrimination, the plaintiff
still carries the burden of showing that the defendants’ nondiscriminatory reesens
pretextualSee411 U.S. at 804. That is not the case here. The Town Defendants have provided a
detailed account of Mr. Miceli’'s allegedisconductSeegenerallyDaigle Report- Humvee
Daigle Reprt— Lombardo. Although Mr. Miceli disputes the veracity of Mr. Daigle’s findings,
as he didbeforethe StateBoard of Mediation and Arbitration, he cites to no admissible evidence
creating a genuine issue of material fact aditoDaigle’s findings.

There is no genuine issue of material fact as to whéftbem Defendants’ reasons for
terminating Mr. Miceliwerelegitimate and nondiscriminatorgee alsdrbitration Award at 9
13 (describing why a majority of the Panel found the Town had just cause to tersicatie
and noting the unpersuasiveness of Mr. Miceli’s claims about the HunmVves is record
evidence oMr. Miceli’'s conduct on the rangeith Officer Raymondhisalleged purchase of a
Humvee and tractor for $13fbm Rocky Hill, andthe physical altercation with Mr. Lombardo
and Mr. Lombardo’s nephewBut there is no record evidence of anyone involved in reporting on
these incidents, ingigating these incidentsr determining whether Mr. Miceli should be
terminated because of these incidents peirngMr. Miceli as haing a disability

In contrasta draft advertisement for tA@wn’s sale of the Humvds not sufficient to
create a genuine issue of fact as to whdtieesale of the Humvee ultimatelyas authorized.
ComparePl's Opp. — Town Defs. at ldeferencing a draft advertisement that Mr. Mehr, then

serving as Finance Director, “conveniently forgot about . . . [as] authorjzetii)Daigle Report
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—Humvee at 3738 (“[t]he evidence is clear that there was no a [sic] silent aucti@ittilarly,
Mr. Miceli’'s denial of a “fist fight with civilians'does not create a genuine issue of material fact
that consideration of his physical altercation with a private citizen in terminatmgds mere
pretext. ComparePl.’s Opp. — Town Defs. at 15 (“There is no indisputable evidence that
plaintiff was ina fist fight with civilians.””), with Daigle Report- Lombardo at 11 (noting that
Mr. Miceli “clearly understood, and readily admitted, that his decision to crosgdleé and
challenge the Lombardos was a poor decisipMieli Depo. at 198:18-201:23€dcribing the
physical altercation between Mr. Miceli, Mr. Lombardo, and his nephew). Intigeiceli
has not provided any admissible evidence isrgcord b support his contention that the Town
Defendants’ reasons for terminating him were discritoirya

In the absence of admissible evidence, Mr. Miceli has failed to establishiage&sue
of material fact as to whether the Town Defenddigsriminatel against him based on a
perceived disability in violation of the ADA.

Accordingly, Mr. Miceli’'s ADA discrimination claim against thBown Defendantsyill
be dismissed

B. The ADA Retaliation Claim

To state an ADA retaliation claina plaintiff must show “(1) the employee was engaged
in an activity protected by the ADA, (2) the employer was aware of thattac(B) an
employment action adverse to the plaintiff occurred, and (4) there existedahamaugection
between the protected activity and the adverse employment a&emd v. Douglas Elliman—
Gibbons & Ives, In¢.183 F.3d 155, 159 (2d Cir. 1999A causal connection in retaliation
claims can be shown either (1) indirectly, by showing that the protected awiastfollowed

closely by discriminatory treatment, or through other circumstantidépeee such as disparate
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treatment of fellow employees who engaged in similar conduct; or (2) diréctiygh evidence
of retaliatory animus directed against the plaintiff by defendant.Natofsky v. City of New
York 921 F.3d 337, 353 (2d Cir. 201@)ternalquotationsomitted)(citing Littlejohn v. City of
New York 795 F.3d 297, 319 (2d Cir. 2018ordon v. New York City Bd. of Edu232 F.3d
111, 117 (2d Cir. 200])

“In adjudicating retaliation claims, courts follow the familiar burgéiiting approach of
McDonnell Douglas Corp.Kaytor v. Electric Boat Corp609 F.3d 537, 552 (2d Cir. 2010).
Under this frameworK[a] plaintiff must establish a prima facie case; the employer must offer
through the introduction of admissible evidence a legitimate non-discrimina&sgn for the
discharge; and the plaintiff must then produce evidence and carry the burden cfipersuse
the proffered reason is a pretex®&e McBride583 F.3d at 96 (citin§istg 445 F.3cat 169).

“The proper question for etaliation claim is whether the alleged adverse action to which the
plaintiff was subjected could well have dissuaded a reasonable employee in his position from
complainirg of unlawful discriminatiori. Davis-Garrett v. Urban Ouitfitters, Inc921 F.3d 30,

44 (2d Cir. 2019) (citin@urlington Northern and Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Wis#8 U.S. 53, 57
(20006). Finally, “Title VII retaliation claims must be proved according to tradaigrinciples

of but-for causation.Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. NasskE83 S.Ct. 25172534 (2013).

The Town Defendants argue that Mr. MicelRBA retaliation claim fails as matter of
law becaus®ocky Hill could not continue to employ a policHicer with a history of
untruthfulness. Town Defs. Mem. at 38-(citing Mehr Affidavit § 14 (“Plaintiff was terminated
for lack of truthfulness, poor judgment and angry behavioiThgyargue thathere is no causal
connection between Mr. Miceli's aljjed protected activity of filing a CHRO complaint and his

termination as a police officer for one major reason: they were not aware bfidéti’'s June
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19, 2015]etterto the Office of the Chief State’s Attorn@éOCSA Letter”) until February 2,
2016, when they received it as an attachment to CHRO’s Nutica. 34;see alsdx. J: Notice
of Charge of Discrimination, ECF No. 135-18 (Feb. 2, 2016).

As a resultthe Town Defendansubmit thatMr. Daigle wadirst hired to invetigatethe
circumstances of Mr. Miceli’s alleged purchase of a Humvee Rorky Hill at a silent auction,
andnot as retaliation foeitherthe OCSA Letteror the CHRCcomplaint. Town Defs. Mem. at
34. The Town Defendants also emphasize the undisfiuigidgs of Mr. Daigle’s independent
investigation- that Mr. Miceli “had engaged in unbecoming conduct and had been untruthful.”
Id. (referencing Daigle Repo#t Lombardo and Daigle Report — Humvee).

The Town Defendantslsosubmit that there is no evidenthat Mr. Miceli’s filing of the
CHRO complaint was the bty cause of the adverse employment actionat 3537. Evenif
the Court finds a genuine issue of material fact as to whether they perceivigichir as
disabled, the Town Defendarasyue that theecordevidenceshows that Mr. Miceli was
terminated “because he lied repeatedly about how he obtained the Humvee and engasgied in a
fight with civilians.” Id. at 37.They therefore clainthatthere is no genuine dispute of material
fact as tovhether they retaliated against Mr. Miceli.

In responseMr. Miceli argues thathe temporal proximity of his CHRO complaint to the
adverse employment actions creates a genuine issue of material fact on thersisliatain, as
does the “disparate tement afforded Catania and/or Phelps who engaged mnofiar
‘aggressive’ or ‘confrontational’ actions and received no fitness for duty, suspensions or
investigation.” Pl.’'s Opp — Town Defs. at 2r. Miceli argues thathe Town Defendants
ordered his fitness for duty exam and psychological counseling “without badisiua to “the

perception that [he] was mentally disableldl.’at 13.
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Furthermore, Mr. Miceli argues that they also retaliated against him foormiglaint of
corruption to the Chief State’s Attorney, and labeled him as mentally disabledirtiteasirig
[his] workplace and other officers who confronted him with the false perception put upon him.”
Id. He claims the Town Defendants labeled him as mentally disabled, which éestisy
repugtion in the department, and that all of this occurred “in close proximity to plaintiff
complaint to the Chief State’s Attornéyd.

The Court diagrees.

Mr. Miceli's ADA retaliation claim fails for the same reasons as his ADA discriminatio
claim. Frst, a& the Court has already noted above, the Town Defendargsahaulated
legitimate and nondiscriminatory reasons for terminating Mr. Miceli’'s employmsrd result
Mr. Miceli has failed to establish a direct causal conneatitim his terminatio in the form of
retaliatory animusSecond, Mr. Micelhas nokestablisikedan indirect causal connection between
his CHRO complaint and an adverse employment action.

Mr. Miceli claims a causal connection indirectiijue to theemporal proximity of his
CHRO complaint anglis terminatioras evidence of the Town Defendants’ pret&ePl.’s
Opp. — Town Defs. at 21But “[tfjlemporal proximity alone is insufficid@rto defeat summary
judgment at the pretext stag&ann Kwan v. Andalex Group LL.C37 F.3d 834, 847 (2d Cir.
2013). A plaintiff would need other evidence, in addition to temporal proximity, “such as
inconsistent employer explanations, to defeat summagnent.”ld. (collecting cases).

“Evidence of pretext may include temporal proximity between the protedigedyaand
the adverse action plus additional evidence either showing retaliatory animygrovidig the
truth of the employer’s legitimate r&an for the adverse actiorSiusdak v. Sessiar295 F.

Supp. 3d 77, 105 (D. Conn. Feb. 21, 2018). When temporal proximity is the only basis for a
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prima faciecase, the time gap is typically bri€eeZann Kwan 737 F.3d at 845 (the threesek
period béween plaintiff's complaint to her termination was “sufficiently shoi@irzynski v.
JetBleu Airways Corp596 F.3d 93, 110 (2d Cir. 2010) (holding that one month is sufficient to
show causation)Johnson v. Connecticut Dep’t of CqQr892 F. Supp. 2d 326, 341 (D. Conn.
2005) (“[C]ourts in the Second Circuit have rejected finding a causal inferencethndre were
gaps of three months, six months, eight months, one year, and eleven months betwisn the fi
of the complaint and the alleged retaliatiorf(iting White v. Whitmam99-civ-4777, 2002 WL
776589, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 26, 200@pllectingcases).

Even viewed in the light most favorable to him, Mr. Miceli has not provided the
additional evidencef the allegedlypretextual nature of the Town Defendants’
nondiscriminatory reasons for his terminatiSee Zann Kwary37 F.3d at 854 (“Whatever
modest probative value temporal proximity might have in this case is washedyathayfacts
that Plaintiff did not offer anevidence to suggest that the decisioakers who fired her knew
about the complaints she allegedly made [about gender discrimination] and thigtf Elelinot
produce any evidence to undermine [Defendant’s] position that her performance was
demonstrably poor and incompatible with its shift in business focus.”).

Significantly,Mr. Miceli filed his CHRO complainbn December 232015.SeeOCSA
Letter at 1But the FBI already had been investigating the Humvee and tractor purchase by Mr
Miceli and the Tow of Rocky Hill already had been responding to complaints filed by Mr.
Lombardo, regarding Mr. Miceli, before both the OCSA Letter and the initial @ Edtnplaint.
SeePl.’'s SMF- Town Defs. 17 (on May 12, 2015, two FBI agents interviewed Mr. Miceli
regading his purchase of the HumveP);’s SMF- Lombardo at { 20 (claiming that from

October 2014 onwards, Mr. Lombardo “allegedly initiated and pursued a complamaés|
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and false complaints and investigations against” Mr. Miceli)ff 7 (alleging tht in May 2015,
Mr. Lombardo and themterim Town Manager Scaife wrongfully called the State Department
of Transportation on Mr. Miceli because his vehicle and a rock were in the stditefngay).
Indeed, Mr. Micelirefers to theeomplaintspreceding both in his June 19, 2008;SA Letter.
SeeOCSA Letter atl-4 (referencing the FBI interview and various complaiegarding Mr.
Lombardo).

Also, althoughMr. Miceli alleges that when Lt. Catania la@ghis investigation on
August 6, 2015, the Town Defendants were already ting@bout his June 19, 2015 OCSA
Letter, Pl.’s Opp. — Town Defs. at 14, Lt. Catania could not recall the date on which he found out
about the OCSA LetteseeCatania Depo. dt36:6-138:11 (noting that he notified Interim Town
Manager Scaife about the O8&etter,based on Chief Custer’s instructions, when he became
aware the letter existed, but not recalling when that date eradthe Town Defendants
maintain thathey did not have knowledgd the OCSA Letteuntil February 2, 2016, when they
received notice of the CHRO complaifibwn Defs. Mem. at 34ee alsdX. J: Notice of
Charge of Discrimination, ECF No. 135-18 (Feb. 2, 2016

Withoutrecordevidence ohotice of the complaints until February 2, 2016, the time
period to establish tempal proximity starédthen, not when Mr. Miceli filed thEHRO
complaint in December of 201k any eventthe time gap odlmost ten monthisetween the
CHRO complaint and his terminatidail to establish an indirect causal connection through
temporal poximity. See, e.g.Hollander v. Am. Cynamid Ca895 F.2d 80, 86 (2d Cir. 1990)
(affirming district court’s finding that there was no causal nexus despiéeglap of only three
months).

Mr. Miceli also argues that Mr. Daigle’s investigations were ratialy and e time gap
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between the first CHRO complaint and Mr. Daigle’s investigationdederve a closer lookhe
record shows tha&ocky Hill first retainedMr. Daigle onApril 1, 2016, which igwo months
after the Town Defendants received notice of the CHRO comp&eeDaigle Report-
Humvee at Ex. C: Retention Letté&lthough this two-month period could suffice to establish

adequate temporal proximity, it alone is insufficient to establish retali&@emClark County

Sch. Dist. v. Breedeb32 U.S. 268, 273 (2001) (“[Clases that accept mere temporal proximity . .

. as sufficient evidence of causality . . . uniformly hold that the temporal prgximit be very
close.” (internal citation ontied)).

Finally, Mr. Miceli claimsdisparate treatmeir comparison ta.t. Catania andgt.
Phelpspecause they only had a meeting with Human Resoutickspt have a fitness for duty
examination oundergo annternal investigationand were not termated.SeePl.’s Opp. —
Town Defs. at 21But “[w]hen considering whether a plaintiff has raised an inference of
discrimination by showing that she was subjected to disparate treatmeng plainitiff must
show she was ‘similarly situated in all mastrespects’ to the individuals with whom she seeks
to compare herselfGraham v. Long Island R.R230 F.3d 34, 39 (2d Cir. 2000) (citing
Shumway v. United Parcel Service, |ril8 F.3d 60, 64 (2d Cir. 1997)). Takercation
between Lt. Catania and Sgt. Phelps is distinguishable from Mr. Micelicmaut several ways
First, Lt. Catania and &. Phelps had a verbal argument asnaokers.SeePhelps Depo. at 51:3
(“[W]e had a verbal argument.”gRecond, iere § no evidence in this recotidat eithel.t.
Catania or Sgt. Phelps lied about acquisitions of Town property or that thegrbad or
physical altercations with civiliarthe reasons underlying Mr. Miceli’s terminatidvit. Miceli
thus has not shown thht. Catania and Sgt. Phelps were “similarly situated employees who

went undisciplined [like him, and] engaged in comparable condBeeGraham 230 F.3d at
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40.

As a result, Mr. Miceli has failed to establish a causal connection betweertlegher
OCSA Letter or the CHRO complaint and his terminatiand theres no genuine issue of
material fact as to whether the Town Defendants retaliated against Mr..Miceli

Accordingly,Mr. Miceli’'s ADA retaliationclaim against the Town Defendants will be
dismisse.

C. TheFirst Amendment Retaliation Claim

Section 1983 provides a private right of action against state and local government
officials for Constitutional violations:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or

usage, of any State or Territary. subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen

of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the

deprivationof any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution

and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or

other proper proceeding for redress . . .
42 U.S.C. § 19835ection 1983 “is not itself a source of substantive rights, but merely provides a
method for vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferrAtbfight v. Oliver 510 U.S. 266, 271
(1994) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

To state a First Amemadent retaliation claim sufficient to withstand a motion for
summary judgment, the plaintiff must set forth evidence demonstfdfipthat the speech at
issue was protecte(R) thathe suffered an adverse employment actmat (3)thatthere was a

caushconnection between the protecttivity and the adversemploymentaction.” Cotarelo
v. Village of Sleepy Hollow Police Depa60 F.3d 247, 251 (2d Cir. 2008ven if the plaintiff
demonstrates these factors, the defendant can still prevaihotian for summary judgment if it

can show that it would have taken the same adverse employment action ‘even inrtbe abse
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the protected conduct.Blum v. Schlegell8 F.3d 1005, 1010 (2d Cir. 1994) (quotMgunt
Health City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Doy@9 U.S. 274, 287 (1977)).

Additionally, a “government employee must show that his speech was on a matter of
public concern in order for that speech to be protected under the First Amendbatatelq
460 F.3d at 252 (citingrank v. Relin1 F.3d 1317, 1328 (2d Cir. 1993)generally, speech on
‘any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community is protéctdd(guoting
Morris v. Linday 196 F.3d 102, 110 (2d Cir. 1999) (finding that police officer comments on
crime ratespolice staffing, equipment shortages, and budget matters were of public concern)).
The existence of discrimination in a government workplace is a matter of pobtiera.See,

e.g, Mandell v. County of Suffqli816 F. 3d 368, 382-83 (2d Cir. 2003) (halglthat it was a
matter of public concern for plaintiff to criticize defendant police depants&approach to
fighting organized crime, its resistance to change, and its systemic racismte®emitism”).
But “the government, as an employer, has ditegie interest in regulating the speech of its
employees to promote the efficiency of public servite.at 382.

Although “[t]he heart of the mattés whether the employee’s speech was ‘calculated to
redress personal grievances or whether it had a broader public ptrpaseolo v. City of New
York 514 F. 3d 184, 189 (2d Cir. 2008)ting Lewis v. Cowenl65 F.3d 154, 163-64 (2d Cir.
1999)), “a speaker’s motive is not dispositive in determining whether his or heh guiEesses
a matter of public concernSousa v. Roqué&78 F.3d 164, 173-74 (2d Cir. 2009) (concluding
that the district court erred in finding that plaintiff's “speech did not addresgtamof public
concern because he was motivated by employment grievant&igther or not speech

addresses a matter of public concern ‘must be determined by the contentpfboontext of a
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given statement, as revealed by the whole reco®hiisa573 F.3d at 175 (citinGomick v.
Myers 461 U.S. 138, 147-48 (1983)).

Mr. Miceli alleges retaliation in violation of the First Amendment of the U.S.
Constitution. The alleged protected speech IO8EA Letter SeeEx. I Miceli’s Letter to State
Wide Prosecution, ECF No. 135-12 (June 19, 2015).

The Town Defendants argue that Mr. Miceli’s claims fail as a matter of law for the
following reasons: (1) the individual Town Defendants are entitled to qualifieaiimty; (2)
there is no evidence that Mr. Miceli engaged in protected speech; (3) thereviderce that the
Town Defendants terminated Mr. Miceli on the basis of protected speech. Town DefsaMe
18. Theyarguethat Mr. Miceli’'s OSCA Letterrefers tocomplaintsthat aregpersonaln nature.

Id. at 27.They emphasize that his letter “essentially claim[ed] that members of the Town
Administration collaborated with his neighbor in order to harass him,” and thdydrar
Miceli “did not write that letter to exposéfimial misconduct,” but to “vindicate his own
interests and rehabilitate his reputatida.”at 30.

In response, Mr. Miceli argues that his speech was protected because thenamhoplai
conduct by Defendants was a matter of public concern. Pl.’s Oppwva Defs.at 16. Heargues
that in his OCSA Letter, he “complained of acts that affected him as a citizen of theoafown
Rocky Hill.” 1d. at 17. Mr. Miceli emphasizes that he complained aBmaky Hill planning and
zoning, alleged harassment over a certificate of occupancy from prior construatigralkeged
harassment by thHeocky Hill tax assessofines, and citations, as well as the alleged retaliatory
conduct byRocky Hill. Id. at 18 (citing OCSA_etter). AlthoughMr. Miceli admits he was partly
motivated by his own grievances, tlaimsthat he also wanted to “expose official misconduct.”

Id. at 1921.Finally, he emphasizes that therégafficient evidence of disparate treatment and

34



retaliatoryanimus” to establish a First Amendment claidh.at 26.

In reply,the Town Defendants emphasize that part of Mr. Miceli’s duties as a police
officer was to “report any alleged corruption or abuse of power by governmelsffi Town
Defs. Reply at 7Therefore, even if his OCSA Letter is found to be speech on a matter of public
concern, it would still not qualify as protected speech under the First Amendadnent.

The Court agrees.

First,asnotedabove both theFBI investigationof the Humveeandtractorpurchaseand
RockyHill's actionsagainstMr. Miceli regardingthecomplaintsfrom Mr. Lombardooccurred
beforethe OSCA Letter, undercuttingany notionthatanyactionstakenregardinghesetwo
matterscould haveesultedn retaliationfrom the OSCA Letter.SeePl.’s SMF — Town Defs.
15-19 (describing thEBI investigationinto the Humveeandtractor,which beganaftertheU.S.
Attorney’s Office receiveda complainfrom RockyHill in March 2015);0Offutt Depo.at21:4-19
(in aninterviewwith FBI SpecialAgentOffutt onMay 12, 2015Mr. Miceli “statedthatafriend
of his put uphalf the moneyandpaid $50towardthetotal $100”for the Humveeandtractor.);
cf. OCSALetterat 1 (datedJune 19, 2015).

Second, although Mr. Miceli’'s OCSA Letter purports to address generas iskue
corruption withinRocky Hill, theletter raises issuaglatal solely to him ad hisissues with Mr.
Lombardo.SeeOCSA LetterSee Cotarelp460 F.3d at 252 (recognizing amatter of public
concerna situationwheren “the letter and the complaints in the lawsuits concern discrimination
problems generally and were not limited to instances affecting only Gotar®ir. Miceli
details various issues involving his house and property, and related fines and citafiSAs
Letterat 1-2. He alleges that Mr. Lombardo falsely complained about his house and property,

and that then-Interim Town Manager Scaife supported Mr. Lombardo in harassingdeli. M
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Id. Mr. Miceli states, “I believe that Guy Scaife, [sic] is abusing his power as Town Manage
harassing me with fines and bullying me to get what he wants.” OCSA hetter

“Viewed objectively and as a whole,” Mr. Miceli’'s statements do not address snaitter
public concernSee Ezekwe. New York City Health & Hospitals Cor®40 F. 2d 775, 781 (2d
Cir. 1991) (holding that a physician’s complaints were not a matter of public concauséec
her primary aim was to protect her own reputation and not for the puddfare). In additionas
to Mr. Miceli’'s motive, the “content, form, and context” of BESA Letter does not relate to a
matter of public concerrand also only involves his personal grievances with Mr. Lombardo and
Mr. Scaife See Connickd61U.S. at 147. Mr. Miceli has not pointedday evidence that the
OCSA Letter involves a matter broader than his own personal grievaithddr. Scaifeand
Mr. Lombardo In fact, the OCSA Letter involves him speaking as a private citizen on private
matters Accordingly, it does not involve a matter of public concern, and does not constitute
protected speech under the First Amendimanieast with respect to Mr. Miceli’'s employment
with the Town of Rocky Hill.

Finally, even if Mr. Miceli’'s OSCA Letter invtved a matter of public concern, as noted
above, hig=irst Amendment retaliation claifails for the same reasons his ADA and ADA
retaliation claimslo: the absence of a genuine issue of material fachteaermination was the
result of discrimination foany kind.

Becauséhere is no genuine issue of material fact as to whéthexliceli's OCSA
Letteraddresses a matter of public concern or even if it did, whether he has a viable Firs
Amendment retaliation clainthe Court needot reach the issue gtialified immunity

Accordingly,Mr. Miceli’s First Amendment retaliation claim will lismissed.

5> Mr. Miceli also argues that the Town Defendants failed to address Hig\Riendmentonell claim, but it is not
clear hepledsuch aclaim. SeeCompl. 1 4751 (allegingFirst Amendment retaliatiogenerically against the
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D. The State-Law Claims

Having dismissedll of Mr. Miceli’s federal clains, the Court declines to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction ovér. Miceli’s state law claim. SeeKolari v. N.Y.Presbyterian
Hosp, 455 F.3d 118, 122 (2d Cir. 2006) (“a district court ‘may decline to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction’ if it ‘has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction™ (gta@8
U.S.C. 8§ 1367(¢B)); Castellano v. Bd. Of Trustee®37 F.2d 752, 758 (2d Cir. 1991) (quoting
United Mine Workers v. Gibb883 U.S. 715, 726 (1991) (“[l]f the federal claims are dismissed
before trial . . . , the state claims should be dismissed as wet’'glso28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)
(“The district courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction ovainaunder
subsection (a) if . . . the district court has dismissed all claims over which itigpaglio
jurisdiction.”).

As a result, the Court willat address/r. Miceli’s claims undethe CFEPA against the
Town Defendants, the intentional infliction of emotional distdagnsagainst both the Town
Defendants and Mr. Lombardandnor will the Court addredbe claims of defamation and

tortious inteference with contract against Mr. Lombardo alone.

“defendants” without specifying anything with respect to an offjpidicy or custom of the Town of Rocky Hillin
anyevent,because the Court finds there was no underlying First Amendmerttancdddtributable to the Town
Defendants, the municipality of Rocky Hilbald rot be held liable undeévionell. See, e.gJeffes v. Barne08

F.3d 49, 57 (2d Cir. 2000) (“The migipality cannot properly be held liable . . . unless the injury was irdlicyeits
lawmakers or by those whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to repfimeal policy.” (internal citations
omitted); see ado Segal v. Citgpf New York459 F.3d 207, 219 (2d Cir. 2008Because the district court properly
found no underlying constitutional violation, its decision not to addies municipal defendants' liability
underMonellwas entirely correch).
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Town Defendantstion for summary judgment is
GRANTED with respect to the ADAliscrimination claimthe ADA retaliation claim, andhe
First Amendment retaliation claim

The Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the remainm¢pstat
claims against the Town Defendants, and similarly declines to exercidersepfal jurisdiction
over the claims against Mr. Lombardo.

The Clerk of Court is respectfully directeddosethis case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 4th day of Novembet,920

Is/ Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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